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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
&8z B R s (8R)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code™), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which states that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$35,078,402 and
net cash used in operating activities of HK$7,973,659 for the year ended
31 May 2021. As at 31 May 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$12,087,104 and maintained cash and cash equivalents of
HK$1,166,683. During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group's
operations were adversely affected by the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") pandemic, the COVID-19 restrictions and control measures.
These conditions, along with the other matters explained in Note 2.1.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined 4 -
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report:

Key audit matters identified in our audit related to estimated useful lives
of visual display equipment and the recoverability of trade receivables.

Key Audit Matter
HRESTER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNEFNATEERREESNER

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment:

SBERBNRBOMGETAIERFS

Refer to Note 2.6 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 4(a) in the critical accounting estimates and
judgements and Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements for related disclosure.

B2 ESBEMEN 2.6 B G EE KA
B P 5t 4(a) R AR & B RS SRR BT SE 140 ME R 4 B8 ©

As at 31 May 2021, the Group held visual display equipment
of approximately HK$74.1 million (2020: HK$84.0 million).
For the year ended 31 May 2021, depreciation of
approximately HK$19.2 million (2020: HK$19.6 million) for
the visual display equipment was recognised under “cost of
services” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
RZEBEZ_—FHA=1+—H ' E5EHFEEGETRR
BRTANBEET(CE_ZF 40BEET) - HE
T —FHA=+-HIEFE BREETRENE
EEHRBEXRIMBEAEITERRTEN19288E
T(ZE_ZTF 1968 ET) °

Our procedures in relation to management’s estimated useful
lives of the visual display equipment included:

B EEERARGBRIRENAERFHMATH
B8 :

— We understood and evaluated the management’s
internal control and assessment process of estimation
useful lives of visual display equipment and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

— BEMTHMERIAHEERBYEGETRENME A
ERFHAOAMBEGRFEERE  LBEBREEM
AT HEEMNEERAMER RREER(NEM
- FTEE ZEPHRUERER R ARFOHFRIE
B)KF - SHEERBRRANE A RR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHNES NN EEERETSE

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using
a straight-line method to allocate the cost over their
estimated useful lives of 8 years, except for the equipment
which are custom made for a particular project or event and
their cost is depreciated over the duration of the project or
event.

BEBRRENENDRBERESE  EHEFEAR
RERR/IFNBATHOEXA BRNEEBEIEHTE
B R BRI R LSRR B AR IE B SOE B 5 8 B
e -

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display
equipment with reference to the durability, expected repairs
and maintenance and future demand of the equipment.

%ﬁ@ﬁ@%%ﬂﬁmm%ﬁ EH B M A K
ARFBR EABREBRTIREOAIEAFY -

Management also takes into account the industry practice
and expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in the market
relevant to their business.
ERENTZRITEEMNRARLXBEATSE (K
ZEHRMEE T mBRATEE -

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of
visual display equipment is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the determination of estimated
useful lives of visual display equipment, which has a direct
impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use
of significant judgements and estimates.
BMEENRERRAGRERRENREBYHES
MBREAEEERN AETHITENGE %WE?W
EORGBTIRENGFTAICRAFHHREEAEKRA
BT X A& ET o
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—  We assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives
adopted by the Group by reviewing the historical usage
of the equipment, discussing with management and
making reference to, where available, independent
research report on durability, expected repairs and
maintenance and future demand of visual display
equipment;

— BMNEEEHRBRAEIAE HEBEEBETH®
2R(MA)FBRGETRREMA ML BHE
BREERARBZROBIARERE  TH &
SEMEAAIEAEHNEEMT

— We tested on a sample basis, whether additions to
visual display equipment have been recorded in proper
categories for the calculation of depreciation; and

— HMAEIE SEERFENEREEE K
BEGBETRREBERERNEERR &

—  We observed the Group’s physical count procedures on
visual display equipment and the physical condition of
the relevant assets to identify whether there is any
damaged or obsolete visual display equipment.

— ZfiERE ESEEGRGETRENERFGERF
REBEEENERMRRL UBFNREFEEME
BRERHOREERRME -

Based on the procedures described, we found the estimated
useful lives of the visual display equipment were supportable
by the available evidence.

EREiRfr  RMEREEGERKEBEOMGEGAIEAEF
HEABZBREERI R -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREITER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ERMWESNMEEERETSEHE

Recoverability of trade receivables:

B 5 FE MR I RO AT g 1

Refer to Note 2.10 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 3.1(c) in financial risk management, Note 4(c)
in critical accounting estimates and judgements and Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements for related
disclosure.
F2HATXTESHREHEENT210 e HAREEN
F3.1(0) - BB g A R A E R A(0 Rz A BB KR
Bt 5T 16 & AE B # 55 -

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had gross trade receivables
of HK$13,156,541 (2020: HK$15,471,911), against which
allowance for impairment of HK$8,450,229 (2020:
HK$2,821,350) were recorded respectively.
RZEBEZ—FRA=1+—H ' BEEEEAEZEKNE
#EE13,156,541 B L (ZE T F : 154719118 ) °
B3t Ut EH IR R B B #8,450229B L (=& = & & :
2,821,350/ L) °

The Group applied judgement and estimates to measure
the expected credit losses allowance. The trade receivables
were grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles. The expected credit loss rates were
determined based on historical default rates and were
adjusted to reflect current market conditions and forward-
looking information in the macroeconomic environment
that may affect the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
EEEERHEREARAEENEEBERE-Z
SREFBERRBREAEGERRRSEETHAE Wit Kk
BRI ER B EMNRIBE R EBTE K EKIED
ARt - AHEEEEXDREELRAOXEE I
ELHFABRURRER TR RAIGETERT P &EEUK
BHRNNZERENAEEER -

Our procedures in relation to management's assessment on
recoverability of trade receivables included:
BPSEREN A E Z R AN TR @M PTHITER
e

— We understood and evaluated the management’s

internal control and assessment process of recoverability
of trade receivables including its procedures on periodic
review of aged receivables and assessment on expected
credit losses allowance of receivables, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

— RATEEFGHEEEYE S RWFIEN KRE %

MARES EFEREF BRETHENBYE
WHRBEERFEEREFRBEEREEERREMBNE
Fro WEBZRMTHREMNEELREMBER
FERREZ(MERLE TBE 2HLUEEER
REMFFNHBRE)KF  FEERBRERAD
B A Rk

—  We tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of the trade

receivables ageing report;

— HAWMENEAEZRUGRARKR RS OERL

— We evaluated management’s assessment of the

historical credit loss rates by sample checking inputs in
respect of the assumptions made, such as historical
payment records and subsequent settlement records;
and

— BMEEWMEREMERKNE ARE  flw6
FRREHEREEEECE TEEEEHAET
EEBEXNME: &
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ERMWESNMEEERETSTHE

We focused on this area in view of the magnitude of the trade
receivables and the determination of the related expected
credit losses allowance involved the use of judgement and
estimation as described above.

BHAEIH T ERARESRUFEBERAN B
HEABEREEBREENET S KERHE & & (1
EFra) -

—  We evaluated the expected future changes in credit
risks in management’s assessment by sample checking
the inputs to the assumptions to external data sources.

— BMEBmMEZERRAAE A SRR IR
KR FEEEBFENEERRNBHAKE
g o

Based on our work, we found the judgement and estimations
adopted by management in respect of the recoverability of
trade receivables were supportable by the available evidence.

ERNBFNTIE RMEREEENE S EEFEN

WEMERANHE RGBS BREFERIE -

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Wang Hay.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 August 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EERER

For the year ended 31 May 2021 BZEZE_ZT_—FHA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=Z+-HLEFE

2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
Note HK$ HK$
0 BT T
Revenue U35 6(a) 12,349,103 44,714,984
Cost of services PR 75 B 25 8 (34,849,638) (42,001,030)
Gross (loss)/profit E(8), /7 (22,500,535) 2,713,954
Other income H U A 6(b) 1,735,315 259,759
Other gains/(losses), net Hiv iz (&18) F 58 7 494,130 (139,359)
Administrative expenses TER X 8 (13,579,587) (26,353,151)
Net impairment losses on trade receivables B S RWFIEREEETE 160) (5.628,879) (2,821,350)
Operating loss KA E R (39,479,556) (26,340,147)
Finance income B 75 U A 10 2,022 211,088
Finance costs B 75 Ak ZN 10 (540,771) (504,599)
Finance costs, net BY SR B 10 (538,749) (293,511)
Loss before income tax FfT 15 B4 A B 18 (40,018,305) (26,633,658)
Income tax credit SRR % 11 4,939,903 2,328,472
Loss for the year FEEHE (35,078,402) (24,305,186)

Attributable to: AT AT FEL -
— Owners of the Company — KRQARHEA A (35,011,096) (24,257,194)
— Non-controlling interests — I EERER (67,306) (47,992)
(35,078,402) (24,305,186)

Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hth2EESE :

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to ~ H & AJpt B S =187
profit or loss m1H 5
— Exchange difference on translation of — BB G INETERE K

foreign operations ZE 110,280 (57,269)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FETHEBIBER (34,968,122) (24,362,455)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

,\\?\/\’\@H& 5k (B8)

For the year ended 31 May 2021 BZE-_ZT-_—FHA=+—HItFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+—HLFE

2021 2020
= g — qi — 7 — ﬁE
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT BT
Attributable to: AT AT RS -
— Owners of the Company —ARRAREAA (34,905,044) (24,310,854)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERR R R 13 (63,078) (51,601)
(34,968,122) (24,362,455)
Loss per share for loss attributable to FARRAHEB AEGERE
owners of the Company during the year EOESH Y SR
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EARNEE B 12 (4.38) (3.03)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be A L 4R & 2 T U & 7= FE 22 B MY B % — GF B9

e
=5 5

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. Fi=d
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI &

Asat 31 May 2021 RW=-ZE=_—FHRA=+—H

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZE-——F RZZEZZTF
FA=+—-H HA=+—H

Note HK$ HK$
B & BT AT
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NRE 14 74,562,201 84,972,105
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 5,095,179 3,453,938
Prepayments and deposits ENREBERIZS 16 6,613,378 10,396,660
86,270,758 98,822,703
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 e E 16 4,706,312 12,650,561
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERHE RER
H fth j& W /I8 16 8,903,044 11,047,124
Amount due from the immediate holding company J& U & £ 1= % A 7l 518 28 50,000 —
Pledged bank deposits BEEFIRITER 17 — 3,000,001
Cash and cash equivalents BELhBESEEY 17 1,166,683 4,547,631
14,826,039 31,245,317
Total assets HWEE 101,096,797 130,068,020
Equity e
Capital and reserves attributable to ARARBEBEAEEREAR
the owners of the Company *E
Share capital A& Zx 18 8,000,000 8,000,000
Share premium A& 17 i (B 18 56,496,624 56,496,624
Other reserves H b 1 1,410,906 1,304,854
Retained earnings REEF 4,782,054 39,793,150
70,689,584 105,594,628
Non-controlling interests FERER 13 (357,070) (293,992)
Total equity BB 70,332,514 105,300,636
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI E(E)

Asat 31 May 2021 W=-ZT-_—FRA=+—H
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZE-——F RZZEZZTF
HEA=+—H AA=+—8H
Note HK$ HK$
B 5E BT BT
Liabilities =K
Non-current liabilities kARBEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBEAE 23 427,601 5,367,504
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 3,063,539 1,332,232
Contract liabilities EHEaE 6(a) 360,000 L
3,851,140 6,699,736
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HmENZEBELEESEE 20 13,792,475 10,033,337
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 2,343,377 2,276,959
Bank borrowings PBITEH 21 9,508,427 3,592,488
Taxation payable & A5 B 18 1,268,864 2,164,864
26,913,143 18,067,648
Total liabilities BeE 30,764,283 24,767,384
Total equity and liabilities EahkBaERRE 101,096,797 130,068,020

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on page 90 to 175 were approved
by the Board of Director on 24 August 2021 and were signed on its
behalf.

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
BIEE
Director

EF

PA b 7 & B 755 50K 00 5% R £ B S BfY R — 6 B

s,
G}

FOENTSAZHEEMBRRNR_-_ZF_—F
NAZtTHEEESSHERKE -

Tam Chun Yu
EETF
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 May 2021

BE_ZT-_-—FRA=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRREEAES
Retained
Share Share Capital Statutory  earnings/ Non-
capital  premium reserve  Exchange reserve (accumulated controlling Total
(Note 18)  (Note 18) (Note 19(a)) reserve (Note 19(b)) losses) Total interests equity
BE  RHEE EXREE ARG RERA/
(KizE18)  (HraE18) (Ma19() EXRGE (WaE190b) (REFER) Myt FEREE ERAR
HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Balanceat1June 2020 R=-ZB=ZF
NA—HBM&S 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 198,814 332,296 39,793,150 105,594,628 (293,992) 105,300,636
Loss for the year FEBR — - - — —  (35,011,09) (35,011,09)  (67,306) (35,078,402)
Other comprehensive Hip2EER
income:
— Exchange difference —BREBNER
on translation of MEXEE
foreign operations - - — 106,052 — - 106,052 4,228 110,280
Total comprehensive income/ 2 & 18 2 %
(losses) - - - 106,052 — (35,011,096) (34,905,044) (63,078) (34,968,122)
Balance at31 May 2021 R=-B--£%A
=+— AL 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 304,866 332,296 4,782,054 70,689,584 (357,070) 70,332,514
Balanceat 1June2019  R=-B-hH%E
AA—H®EE 8000000 56,496,624 773,744 252,474 332,296 64,050,344 129,905,482 (242,391) 129,663,091
Loss for the year EEFB = = = = —  (24257,194) (24,257,194)  (47,992) (24,305,186)
Other comprehensive losses: -t 2 FI G 15 :
— Exchange difference  — R E BN EFHH
on translation of EXER
foreign operations — — — (53,660) — — (53,660) (3,609) (57,269)
Total comprehensive losses 2 A EEA =1 b= T (53,660) —  (24,257,194) (24,310,854) (51,601) (24,362,455)
Balance at31 May 2020 R=-Z-Z£%A
=+—-BM&e 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 198,814 332,296 39,793,150 105,594,628 (293,992) 105,300,636

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mae

For the year ended 31 May 2021

B

Iﬁ%/)lb%%

E_E_—FHhA=1T—HILFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=Z+-BHLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Cash flows from operating activities RETBAERERE
Operating loss KRR (39,479,556) (26,340,147)
Adjustments for: YIS IBIEH AL :
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment ME BERREBITE 19,540,771 20,002,747
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FTREESERE 3,391,017 2,982,210
Provision for impairment of trade receivables 2 SRR IERERE 5,628,879 2,821,350
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE W E - HE LR ED
W& (157,318) —
Operating loss before working capital changes BELESEBPIRKELER (11,076,207) (533,840)
Changes in working capital: EEES#E:
Trade receivables Z 5 FE W KIE 2,315,370 9,569,018
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B RIE - Re REM
JE W SR IR (1,871,069) (1,194,856)
Contract liabilities X aE 360,000 —
Other payables and accrued liabilities EMmEMRENLESEE 3,194,248 871,211
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K& () FriE84 (7,077,658) 8,711,533
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREATER (896,001) (4,808,461)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities 4 ‘& & ) (BT F) B {5
e ¥ (7,973,659) 3,903,072
Cash flows from investing activities REZDRERERE
Interest received =R UPS 2,022 211,088
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEY % = N 2% A& HY
equipment Fr 1S 3k 18 14 530,001 —
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and WEME HE X
equipment (Note a & b) JE R (Fﬁ #Fakb) (929,164)  (21,885,156)
Advance to the immediate holding company MEEERR AR (50,000) =
Net cash used in investing activities REETBMARSFE (447,141) (21,674,068)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

%W\fﬁi}ﬁéi%(%

For the year ended 31 May 2021 HEZ=ZT

—FRA=+—HLEFE

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=Z+-HLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E_EF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Cash flows from financing activities RETDRESRESRE
Proceed of bank borrowings RITIERATISRIR 26 9,508,427
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIBITEK 26 (3,592,488) (3,149,1 18)
Payments of principal element of lease liabilities EBEHEaEARE I 26 (3,235,921) (2,832,941)
Payments of interest element of lease liabilities EEHERENBI D 26 (286,212) (198,038)
Bank loan interest paid BERITERF A 26 (254,559) (306,561)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B 1K 1 iR ﬁﬁm;‘)ﬁi? 3,000,001 16,285
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities & & & EFr 15, (Fr /)
e %5 5,139,248 (6,470,373)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReLBRSZFEWRALD
SHEE (3,281,552) (24,241,369)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEE [E R SR 2 & (99,396) (49,810)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F#IR & MBS EEY 4,547,631 28,838,810
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRIBE RIS ZEEBY 17 1,166,683 4,547,631
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

an\ Eﬁiﬁ%% (f‘g

For the year ended 31 May 2021 BE—Z-_—FAA=+—HILFE

Major non-cash transactions include:

(@) During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group settled balances
amounting to HK$2,286,106 (2020: HK$4,858,952) for the
acquisition of certain visual display equipment with deposits for
equipment rental, which represented non-cash transactions. For
details, please refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(b) During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group utilised
prepayments for purchase of equipment amounting to
HK$5,796,378 (2020: HK$1,536,227) to settle part of the
considerations for the acquisition of certain visual display
equipment, which represented non-cash transactions. For details,
please refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TEHRSRHBEHE:

@ REBEE-_ZT-_—FRA=+—HIEHF
F AEBURBELHEZCEEEER
ETHGRBTRRE A %ZBM%%
(= F =~ T4 : 4,858,952/ 7T ) °
DREFRAERH - ﬁ%ﬁﬁv%%
B4R a M SRR MIsE16 -

by REBEE-_ZE-_—FHA=+—8H
FtFE AEEHHEEEXEENS
3K J85,796,378% (= T = & F:
1,536,227/ 7L) * MERMKEE THE
BRI ENDBIRE IR EKIER
R -BHFE FRHEREYH
WwMEMFE6 -

A E#R A 2R 8 K e 2R BE P B o — 6 B3

A
ZE o
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General information

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Taiwan (the “Business”). The Company’s
shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14 June 2017.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$35,078,402 and net cash used
in operating activities of HK$7,973,659 for the year ended 31 May
2021. As at 31 May 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$12,087,104 and maintained cash and cash equivalents of
HK$1,166,683.

Since early 2020, the Group’s business operations have been
adversely affected by the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
("COVID-19"), after a hit of months of social unrest and protests in
Hong Kong. The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in significant
decrease in commercial activities under the lockdown and a series
of precautionary and control measures imposed in various cities
where the Group operates, such as ban on social gathering of more
than a limited headcount, execution of pandemic prevention
requirements and restrictions and controls over inbound and
outbound travelling. These have led to postponement and
cancellation of pop concerts and live events during the year. In
addition, subsequent to 31 May 2021, the number of infected cases
caused by the COVID-19 variants such as Alpha and Delta have
been increasing all over the world because they are highly
contagious. The governments of the regions where the Group
operates may tighten the control measures again which can
seriously affect the Group’s business. If the situation continues and
the control measures are prolonged, the Group’s business and cash
flows will be adversely affected.

2
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast a significant doubt about the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the Group’s financial position and
performance, the liquidity requirements and its available sources of
financing to assess whether the Group will have sufficient resources
to fulfill its financial obligations. The Group has taken plans and
implemented measures to alleviate the liquidity pressure which
include, but not limited to, the following:

(i

With the launch of the vaccination programmes and the
substantial decrease in the number of COVID-19 infected
cases in 2021 compared to those in 2020 due to the good
results of the control measures imposed by the respective
governments of the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau where the
Group primarily operates, there were signs that the COVID-19
situation has been easing in the regions. The economic
activities resumed gradually and pop concerts and live events
are permitted to be held since June 2021. The directors of the
Company have been closely monitoring the development of
the latest situation and have continuous discussion with the
customers about their plans to resume the pop concerts and
live events. The directors of the Company anticipate that the
Group’s business will resume gradually from July 2021
provide that COVID-19 situation is under control and
distancing measure is easing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I EmRERNEE(E)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had outstanding gross trade
receivables of HK$13,156,541, among which HK$8,553,002
aged over 365 days. The Group has implemented measures to
accelerate the collection by issuing reminders and letters of
demand to its debtors, negotiating with the debtors on their
respective repayment schedules and, where possible, entering
into repayment agreements with them. The Group
successfully collected settlement of trade receivables of
HK$2,336,643 subsequent to 31 May 2021.

In July 2021, the Group obtained a new banking facility of
HK$3,000,000 from a commercial bank in Hong Kong which
was secured by corporate guarantee of the Company, the
pledge of a property and the personal guarantee of a director
of the Company.

When necessary, the Group will continue to adopt a series of
measures to control the cash outflow by encouraging
employees to take no-pay leave, negotiating with suppliers
and creditors to extend the payment due dates, controlling
capital expenditures, obtaining rent concessions from the
landlords and tightening expenditures.

2 FTHEBME @

2.1 4 BE % (@)

2.1.1 ;ii*%«**g/i(im)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections which cover a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 May 2021. The directors are of the opinion that, having
taken into account the anticipated operating cash flows of the
Group as well as the possible changes in its operating performance
and the availability of existing and new bank facilities, the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 May
2021. Accordingly, the directors consider that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern and thus have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above, which incorporate assumptions about future
events and conditions that are subject to inherent uncertainties.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
depends upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate operating
cash inflows through:

(i) gradual resumption of business with further easing of controls
measures related to COVID-19 and as anticipated by
management to generate sufficient operating cash inflows;

(i) successful collection of overdue trade receivables in the
expected timeframe;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

(iii)  successful in draw down of the banking facilities as and when
needed; and

(iv)  successful implementation of various cost saving measures

and control of capital expenditures when necessary.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above plans and
measures such that it would not be operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying values
of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
financial liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

2.1.2 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments
for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1
June 2020:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
BEAGHENEIRRES ST HAEINR
CEHEN
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB BRELREIR UBFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7
BEAMBREEAFEIR  BASHEAFE39%R
REBM B REERETR(EEFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BBV BRELRE 165 (BFIX)
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018
—E-N\FUBREMSER

The amendments listed above did not have any significant impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Definition of Material

EANEE

Definition of a Business
EBFHER

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 1
MEEERE-F R
Impact of COVID-19 on Related Rent Concessions
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Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A HRERITE(E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FEESHBEHSE@
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 B EE @)
2.1.3 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted QA3 EARBEMNFET EA R RE
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been EFHiT e LA LR EEBHEER
published that are not mandatory for 31 May 2021 reporting —E - FRAA=1+—"HHEHME
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These WoRRE A BAEB W MIEREL
standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity 4o JEHREZ £ B A B A Sk R K IR &
in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future HETewTBRrRaIBER AR 5
transactions. RERNTE -

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after
RTHBEHH 2%
RN EFERBER
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2021
and HKFRS 16 — Phase 2
BEGTERFEIN  BAVBRELERNEAT  MEEERE-F R —E_—F—H—H
ERMBREERNETR FEYE RS ER
FIRREBEM B wEERFE165% (EFTA)
Amendments to Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 1 January 2022
2018-2020
FEBEERB (B A) EEMBRELEN _T-N\FE —T__F—HF—H
—E_TFEZFERE
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 Narrow-scope amendments 1 January 2022
ERMBRELENEINR  FEGAERF 165 NEEEAT —E-—_F—HA—H
MEBGEREI7H (BFTA)
Amendments to Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common 1 January 2022
Control Combinations
ERRCEIE VA CHIEY) HEZEGE KNG X —T-—_F—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current 1 January 2023
or Non-Current
EEGTTERE 15 (EFTA) BESEARDHIERD —T-=%—A—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract 1 January 2023
BB HREERFE175 Rz a4 —T-=%—A—H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2023
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
ERERBESR(ZZ_ZF) MBBRREIN—FBRABEBE Z—T_=F—HA—H
BRERERGRRZBEHRERZ
o
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
BEREVMBRELENFE 10 LEE S ER REEEHBENRHAERE R E
55285% (IBET &) ZHENEELESITE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

The Group has not early adopted the above new standard and

amendments and is in the process of assessing the impact of those

new standard and amendments on the Group’s accounting policies

and consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Consolidation

(@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Profits and losses
resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in
assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Change in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interest and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Group.

2
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Change in ownership interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

2.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing the financial performance and
position of the Group, has been identified as the executive directors
that make strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the consolidated financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net basis
within other gains/(losses), net.

() Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
consolidated statement of financial position;
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)

— income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Visual display equipment 8 years or over the duration of the
event, where appropriate

Furniture and other equipment 4 years
Motor vehicles

3-5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount Note 2.7.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in other
losses, net in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets

2.8.1 Classifications

The Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost. The
classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

2.8.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

2.8.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its
debt instruments at amortised cost:

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

2

(Continued)

FESHTHREUME @)

28 S WEE

281 048
AEBRBERADELEREE -

PEBRRREBEESCHEENRH
BARRSREH G KRR -

282 AR KRIETER
%ﬁﬁtﬁgm%ﬂéﬁ BEEHH
(AEBAFBEILEEENBH)
R WERESHEENRESRED
ARSI EHEERANEED KB
HEBAEENEARREKER - 25
BEBKRIEER-

283%tE

ROMFHERE  AEEZRAERQ
(HEMEEY FRAFEFARS
(MEAFEFABRD)) KEECREE
ERBENXZRAAEEREE

NS

REEMSTHRAXTEIANSRE
EZReRERTERINEZ KA

B FREMEEZEBRETER -

& T A

B TANBEFEIANASE
BEBEENEBEAREEN
REMEFE - A& B IREHK
AOBHEBHIE :



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.3 Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), net together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

2.8.4 Impairment

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost are subject
to HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model. The Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(c) sets out the details on
how the Group determines whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of trade receivables. The
provision matrix is determined based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for current market conditions and
forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the current
market conditions and forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.4 Impairment (Continued)

For deposits and other receivables, the Group measures the
impairment as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of the other receivables has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts,
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered
into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but
still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain
circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at
banks and bank overdrafts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.13 Other payables

Other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition. Other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of
financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as finance
costs, net.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14 Borrowings (Continued)

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the
entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part
of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

2.15 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.17 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases of the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of lease liability and any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less without a purchase option.
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2.18 Current and deferred income tax 218N AR IELE TS B

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and consider whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred income liabilities are not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences or losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and where the deferred tax balance relate to the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the rendering of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of discounts, value-
added tax and after eliminating sales within the Group.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple elements, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are
not directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost
plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending
on the availability of observable information.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good or service
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
good or service may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if the Group'’s
performance:

(i)  provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

(i)  creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

(i)  does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the good or service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the good or service. Specific
criteria where revenue is recognised are described below.

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of the promised services to the customers and the
payment by the customer exceeds one year. Therefore, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group incurs costs to fulfill contracts in providing visual display
solution services. If these costs do not fall within the scope of
relevant standards other than HKFRS 15, the Group capitalise these
fulfillment costs as deferred costs in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

If capitalised, these deferred costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which the revenue that they relate is recognised. The Group has
applied the practical expedient of directly recognising these
fulfillment costs as expenses when incurred since the amortisation
period of the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised will be less than one year.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for services that the Group has transferred to a customer, and is
recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers the promised services to the customer, the Group presents
the contract as a contract liability when the payment is received or
a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is
the Group’s obligation to transfer the promised services to a
customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer, and is
recognised when a customer pays consideration or is contractually
required to pay consideration and the amount is already due,
before the Group recognises the related revenue.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below:

(i) Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group's
services. Revenue is recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a
distinct good or service to a customer and is the unit of account
under HKFRS 15. Contracts of the Group include various services
which is integrated into a single deliverable and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

2

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

FESHTHREUME @)

219 =B RR (|)

MR AEE A AERBERERP
ZHAEFPXMNREXAEEE E KM
WHRKESENEN ARERKE
TRk R IE AR (AR R & RE)
B - BEN2IRENEE-AHA
BEAAEERE A TP BIAKE(K
RESBEIH) MAR T P & & A
ARG EME AEAKEEREE
ez pl  EEPXNRERHRELN

() RERGERBERLTEZRBFHW
KB G EBERERT RSO SR
BEHHBBEFETHNERR  E
REP RE RS EFEA S E O RS
iR AlzE - KR N2 RE2ET
BHEENEEZERRH AR B
TRAOBEENEEERRZAETES
BHAEBHNEEE -

BRHEERRAEFPEZNRE RIR
BeaiAw AREFEEMBHREE
AIBISMIBE T ZEF B - AKEM
EHNERZERY HEA/E T
RNRR Bt —RIEBE—BHE
EARR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Revenue from visual display solution services (Continued)

The Group derives revenue primarily under fixed price contracts. If
at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to
exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognized.

2.20 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as part of finance costs, net.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the
loss allowance).

2.21 Other income

Handling income, equipment repairment, technical consultancy and
project management income are recognised when the services are
performed.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

2.23 Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by the employees
up to the year end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based
on performance and taking into consideration the profit attributable
to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.23Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Pension obligation

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement benefit
plans which are available to all relevant employees. These plans are
generally funded through payments to schemes established by
governments or trustee administered funds. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee services in the current
and prior periods. The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution plans are expensed as incurred.

Financial risk management

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how
these risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance.
Current year profit and loss information has been included where
relevant to add further context.

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

At 31 May 2021, the Group does not have any interest-
bearing financial assets or liabilities except for cash at
banks at floating rates and bank borrowings at fixed
rates, details of which are disclosed in Note 17 and 21
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
The Group's cash at banks earns interest at low interest
rates, which are not significant. Hence, bank borrowings
at fixed rates are what expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

At 31 May 2020, the Group does not have any interest-
bearing financial assets or liabilities except for pledged
bank deposits, cash at banks and bank borrowings at
floating rate, details of which are disclosed in Note 17
and 21 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. The Group’s cash at banks and pledged
bank deposits earn interest at low interest rates, which
are not significant. Hence, bank borrowings at floating
rates are what expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the directors of the
Company consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to the Group’s pledged bank deposits, cash at banks
and bank borrowings is not significant as the fluctuation
of the interest rates are minimal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(9

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to United
States dollars (“US$”), Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and
Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable
with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System, and
accordingly, the Group considers the foreign exchange
risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed
relative to USS.

At 31 May 2021 and 2020, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, loss for the year ended 31 May 2021
would have been approximately HK$245,871 (2020:
HK$216,005) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains on translation of payables denominated
in RMB.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and amount
due from the immediate holding company included in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to its financial assets.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss models:

. Trade receivables; and

. Other financial assets carried at amortised cost.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due
from reputable companies in the entertainment
industry. The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The Group
measures the expected credit losses on a combination
of both individual and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses also estimated by grouping the
receivables based on similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery,
taking into account the customers’ ageing category and
historical payment profiles, and applying the expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts
of the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 R AEREE @
() Credit risk (Continued) (0 HEERkK(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEN K IE (FB)
The expected credit loss rates were determined based BHEEBEXRDIBER
on historical default rates and were adjusted to the EE‘fii’]‘_.T:FgE - AR 1B E Al
effects of current market conditions as well as forward- Fﬁ MW EREER S
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting B REIWRIARE N RER
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. A = H Bl BE 4 B R E
The following table presents the gross carrying amount TRIWRHRZEZ—F K
and the provision for impairment in respect of =5 =5 $ FA=+—H
collectively assessed trade receivables as at 31 May HETGEEZE S ERZIER
2021 and 2020: A@EEE@&WE%&%-
Expected credit Gross carrying Impairment
loss rate amount loss allowance
BHREE B
BEX REAE BIERE
HK$ HKS
BT 78T
Asat31May2021 R=-E=—SFHFA=+-—H
Current (not yet due)  BNHA (i K B H3) 27% 3,030,420 814,343
1-90 days pastdue  #HJ1%E90H 43% 545,660 234,570
91-180 days past due #1Hi91 =180 H 49% 1,027,460 506,497
> 1 year past due BB F 81% 8,553,001 6,894,819
64% 13,156,541 8,450,229

Expected credit ~ Gross carrying  Impairment loss

loss rate amount allowance
TEHE B
BEEE% IREEE EiE A
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Asat31May 2020 R-Z-ZEFHA=+—H
Current (not yet due)  B1HA (i K B H3) 0% 192,410 —
1-90 days past due #1290 H 4% 6,265,000 250,600
91-180 days past due 38§91 % 180 H 15% 3,818,001 572,700
181-365 days past due #1H3181% 365 H 30% 3,001,000 900,300
> 1 year past due BERER R F 50% 2,195,500 1,097,750
17% 18471691 1 2,821,350
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
“net impairment loss on trade receivables” within
operating loss. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account for
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include cash and cash equivalents, deposits and
other receivables and amount due from an immediate
holding company in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the 12-month expected credit loss. The 12-month
expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime expected
credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and
other receivables and amount due from an immediate
holding company as low as the counterparties have the
capacity to meet their contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term.

The majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
are deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC which are of high
credit rating. Management does not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these financial
institutions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed
with various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the
PRC, and are due to refund upon the expiry of the
tenancy agreements and handover of the leased
premises. The Group has not experienced any defaults
by the landlords.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for
equipment are placed with various reputable companies
in Hong Kong and the PRC, and are due to refund upon
the termination of equipment rental contracts and
return of the leased visual display equipment. The
Group has not experienced any defaults by the
counterparties.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected
credit losses for these financial assets carried at
amortised costs were close to zero under 12-month
expected losses method, and therefore no provision was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. The Group’s primary cash requirements
have been for additions of machinery and equipment
and payment for purchases and operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital
requirements through internal resources and bank
borrowings.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents considered adequate by the directors
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The directors
monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings to ensure
adequate unutilised banking facilities and compliance
with loan covenants.

3 eEREARERE @
31 €A MEZE @

(0)

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I HRERNEE(8)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 eREAREZE @
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) R"EBELER(E)

The table below analyses the Group'’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year end date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the WEHIB R TR E
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due MEREIESY KRR S
within twelve months equal their carrying balances as o HmRANIREEAR K ]
the impact of discounting is not significant. R+ 8B KB H & & &
ERHEREE -

TERBRBEFELKERESR
MBI R B WRTHRE - FA
SENERAEEIN AN

<

132

Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2and5
on demand years years Total
15,/
REREE 1224 2E55F et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T T 7T T
At 31 May 2021 NR-EE-—F

FA=+—H

Other payables and  E i fi& {5 3018 K2
accrued liabilities EitaiE 13,268,104 — — 13,268,104
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,644,616 2,034,942 962,262 5,641,820

Bank borrowings R 1718 3% (B &)
(Note) 9,508,427 — — 9,508,427
25,421,147 2,034,942 962,262 28,418,351

At 31 May 2020 R-ZZB-ZHF

AHA=+—8H

Other payables and  E b i {5 Z01E K&
accrued liabilities fEztaE 10,033,337 — — 10,033,337
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,349,060 1,104,445 340,032 3,793,537

Bank borrowings SR 77 15 2k (B &E)
(Note) 3,592,488 — — 3,592,488
15,974,885 1,104,445 340,032 17,419,362

Note:

The maturity analysis of the bank borrowings is disclosed with

reference to the agreed repayment schedules as set out in the

relevant agreements, taking into account the clause of repayable

on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M maR M ()

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £l EEE @
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) R"EBELEB(E)
Without taking into account the clause of repayable on M 4 =t & 15 2 SRk & R
demand, the maturity analysis of the bank borrowings X SRITERWEIEH SN
is analysed as follows: DITEATR -
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2and5 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total
151,/
RERMEE 1224 2B55F HIB5F #et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At31May RZ-ZZTE-—FH
2021 B=—E 2,825,657 3,242,808 3,763,114 314,582 10,146,161
At31May R-ZT-_ZHFFH
2020 A=+—8 2,594,059 1,153,678 — — 3,747,737
3.2 Capital Management 32 EXEHE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AREBEZEBEANNEEAEREAR
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern EFEEBELENE D B AKR
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for BB E 2R - W8 H A4 F 25
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital EREMHAZ R EFEREENLERE
structure to reduce the cost of capital. BURE & 2N B 2N ©
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group B BB AR KEE
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, AHERBRERNGKRESEE -
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets FIRERBERN - /T B
to reduce debt. EEENRDER -
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(Continued)

e B m R (&)
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.2 Capital Management (Continued) 32 EXEE @)
The capital structure of the Group consists of shareholders’ AREBWNEAREDERE RS
equity and total borrowings. Capital is managed so as to RigEshmeEm . AT EE YR

maximise the return to shareholders while maintaining a
capital base to allow the Group to operate effectively in the
marketplace and sustain future development of the business.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “lease
liabilities” and “bank borrowings” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and

H A 3R & AL I 4358 AR BRI
FEAEBENETS LA RKE
REBEETAREBER - A E
EREBEEEAGBHLRETELR-

FZHERFEBBRAEALRE
AE FEBRERBE(BE
REMBRARIITHIEE

BEIR[BITHERD)BIRE RIRIT

bank balances. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as IEETE o BARBEEIRG S 5
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus ;ij(,ﬁ'j% DI RETREZS | IR G ET
net debt. o
The gearing ratio at 31 May 2021 was as follows: R-ZE-_—FRA=1+—HBHHE
EAELENT
As at
31 May
2021
R-TB=-—F
EA=+—H
HKS$
BT
Lease liabilities HEBE 5,406,916
Bank borrowings RITER 9,508,427
14,915,343
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W ReERBEEEY (1,166,683)
Net debt BEFER 13,748,660
Total equity EReEE 70,332,514
Net debt to equity ratio B FEEEER X 20%

As at 31 May 2020, the gearing ratio is not applicable due to
net cash position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SEAKREREm@m

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities are a
reasonable approximation of their fair value. The fair value of
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the
use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal
the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group'’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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(Continued)

ire W R M AT ()

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 4 RBARE5T{E5H & H E @)
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

(b) FETREERME

Non-financial assets including property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs of disposals. These calculations require the use of
judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset value may
not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of
fair value less costs of disposals and value-in-use; and (iii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the impairment test and
as a result affect the Group’s financial condition and results of
operations.

If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and the resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take an impairment charge to profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the expected credit losses of these receivables.
The assessment is based on the historical default rates and is
adjusted to reflect the effects of current market conditions
and forward-looking information in the macroeconomic
environment that may affect the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables, which requires the use of judgements
and estimates. Management reassesses the provision at each
reporting date.

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses significant judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(c).

Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations
during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the
period in which such estimate is changed.

N
7 N ==

B 7% R 2k B 5 (A8)

4 BRI R A E @

(9]

(d)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

FE W R B R E

AEEEEEREBZ S R EMIE
WHREBHEEBERNFG B
EZFRWF IR RERER - 71
EIERNBEROE  WIEHHA
BEURBRAIEZETFENREK
RERNWERN TR R EZBLHE
REMNAELEERNEE B
FEERAGHEMAT - EEEBR
EREAHEHNFEABBE -

CREEERBENRERHBE
HRBRRBHBERENRE R
BEHREMR AEEAREHZE
BRIGEEREFENHARE
B REASENBELSE B
AT R B ATRE A HER B X
HE - A EEERR RE ARE
B R IE O M 5E3.1(0) 55 -

B 3R K% 3 3 B R

AEBEBEHMZ EBDEERNPT
B RETMEHBRERAE
HEBRHAE BEEBBERE
ERRPHABEL M EENR S
EitB - W EEENHRRHG
BREVTTHENEZBETR A
BERKEEFLEENHARA
) FT 1S B0 SR SE T IR 4 -

i & 22 B 7R A3 R 2R R SR B i A A
RATBERFRHE RS IEEREAD
REEATHA RleEREs
TEREEZRAANELERENR
BENMREEBR - HEHERSE
MEF AR EREZESEHA
8 i 51 3R 2 B 10 A P IR S P
BHEEMMEBENERENT
@,

—=-—g5f 137



138

W N

ire W R M AT ()

Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions. These reports are prepared on the
same basis as these consolidated financial statements.

The chief operating decision-maker is identified as the executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the
Group’s consolidated financial statements mainly from a single
business perspective as the Group is mainly engaged in the
provision of visual display solution services.

During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, all of the Group's
revenue was from contracts with customers and was recognised
over time.

The Group's revenue is attributable to the following geographical
markets:

(Continued)

EEEERBEIZRERKRERRZY
AREIFTREERAROREECLSE
D ZEWERBERERA UK
BRERNEERSE -

TERERRERARABITES
HRASEEEZRFEREHERBETRE
RARRE  MATTEETBRE—
XGAEENASENKRS M B R
% o

RBE_ZT-_—Fh_T_TFAA
S+-BLEFE FEAKEKES
KEEFA#REERERER -
AEBEWKZERE AT HRT I

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020

—B-—-F ZT-THF

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Hong Kong &5 7,752,243 17,326,598
PRC H 3,000,096 14,484,956
Macau B 1,140,764 12,023,430
Taiwan = 456,000 495,000
Others H b — 385,000
12,349,103 44,714,984
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5 Segment information (Continued) 5 2EH @

The Group's total non-current assets were located in the following
regions based on the countries/place of domicile of the companies
comprising the Group:

AEBERRBEERERBEAKEIE
TRBAMERR MEMK TR :

As at As at
31 May 31 May
2021 2020
R-ZZZ—F RIZZT_ZTF
HFA=+—-H HAA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Non-current assets: ERBNE EE
Hong Kong E 80,451,033 89,879,021
PRC R 5,157,808 7,165,591
Macau B P 661,917 1,778,091
86,270,758 98,822,703

For the year ended 31 May 2021, there was 1 customer (2020: 2
customers) who individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s
total revenue. Revenue contributed from each of these customers is

Sy Es = el S —waEn RS - — (5] ([ 42
B B12BF(ZE_ZTF 128 %
PIEBTAEERAKRZNAE10% © 5%

as follows: EREFZEZERMKZENT ¢
Year ended 31 May
BZEAHA=T—HIEEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —F-F
HK$ HK$
BT & JC
Customer | 25| 2,958,333 N/A
Customer Il (Note) ZPINH ) N/A 12,775,179
Customer IIl (Note) BB (M) N/A 4,802,000
2,958,333 17,577,179

Note: Revenue from Customer Il and Customer Il did not exceed 10% of total
revenue during the year ended 31 May 2021. (2020: Customer )

i : RBEE_T-—FAA=+T—RHLEFE"
REZFPIREFIE YT BB 8 K=
H10% (ZE=_TF  BFI) -
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6 Revenue and other income

(a) Revenue

(Continued)

6 WERHMEKA
(a) W=

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+t—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Revenue from visual display solution REERE R RRS WS
services 12,022,452 44,403,026
Equipment rental income BREHEHERA 326,651 311,958
12,349,103 44,714,984
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities: AN B EERN K
As at 31 May 2021, contract liabilities amounted to R-_ZE-_—FRA=+—H 448
HK$360,000 (2020: Nil). No revenue was recognised during & 5360,0008 T (ZE=-F & : 4;1:_5)

the year ended 31 May 2021 relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities (2020: Nil). The amount is expected to be
recognised as revenue within 3 years and the amount does
not include variable consideration which is constrained.

Other income

(b)

HE_T-_— G RA=+—BIt#HF
B oBERfELNEERRKE (=

EoFFE)  cABRAREERN
FRERAKZ BABRETRE
52 R 5 1 7T 4 (X1

(b) HAUA

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+—HLFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Handling income FEEBRA 130,690 259,759
Government grants (Note) BURT #8 Bh (B 3E) 995,625 =t
Equipment repairment, technical REEE BB ARIEEER
consultancy and project management  Ug A
income 609,000 =
1,735,315 259,759
Note: Government grants represented subsidies obtained from the B 5 - BT B IR B B S R BIAT R AT
Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong (Rt 2 ESHBMEAETR
Special Administrative Region and subsidies obtained from the local A H R S5 PY Hb 5 AT 1S B B -
governments in Mainland China and Macau to subsidise the operating DA% BE 7K £ B KB D 7 B & K
costs of the Group's subsidiaries. There were no unfulfilled conditions I o REE R 2 B TS Sk
attached to these grants as at the end of the year. SERR IS o
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7 Other gains/(losses), net 7 Httz (EE)FHE

Year ended 31 May
BETZA=+t—-BLFEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTHF
HK$ HK$
T BT
Exchange gains/(losses), net bE W s (B1R) F 8 336,812 (139,359)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEDE - BENEREN K=
equipment 157,318 —
494,130 (139,359)
8 Expenses by nature 8 RMHHEEIHMEX
The following expenses are included in cost of services and AR B 2 5 A BRFS B AS R 4T BR B &

administrative expenses:

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZET-F
HKS$ HK$
BT 7T
Auditors’ remuneration % 25 Aib 557 B 904,272 1,227,184
Consultancy and technician fees ua B R E 277,832 209,718
Cost of equipment and spare parts B A RN 431,925 475,917
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BERZETE
equipment (Note 14) (PfF5E14) 19,540,771 20,002,747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) FTREEEE (MsE15) 3,391,017 2,982,210
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) BERFAAZ (FE9) 13,098,628 19,033,326
Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect 75 B8 B ¥ 2 & R & 2 55 25
of rental premises and equipment (Note 15) &&= (f:E15) 4,719,557 2,159,715
Freight and logistics expenses BERYNE 779,780 3,451,576
Legal and professional expenses FEREEEH 1,009,145 1,584,593
Professional service fees in respect of transfer HREEHER FHH
listing preparation EERKE — 7,167,000
Sub-contracting charges DEE 1,347,500 3,272,786
Travelling expenses =ZIRE 563,135 1,616,992
Others H 2,365,663 5,170,417
Total cost of services and administrative R 75 B AR R 1T K P % 4R R
expenses 48,429,225 68,354,181
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9 Employee benefit expenses

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—F=-— —E-FF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Wages, salaries and allowances, excluding IE H4ekER

directors’ emoluments (TBEIEZEFEHM) 9,468,404 14,842,550
Directors’ emoluments (Note 33) BB (M sE33) 2,503,590 2,778,074

Pension costs — contributions to defined BRREBR — AR EHREE
contribution plans (Note) HEER (BT 5E) 1,126,634 1,412,702
13,098,628 19,033,326

Note: B & -

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, In Technical Productions Limited (the
employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5%
of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees are subject to a
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. The Group has no further obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to state-
administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. For the PRC, the employees
contribute up to 10% of their basic salaries, while the Group contributes approximately
23% to 27% (2020: 19% to 24%) of such salaries. The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
these contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

There were no forfeited contributions to defined contribution plans for the years ended
31 May 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire M maR M ()

9 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 9 EERFEX@
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) EEBEBREHFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in NREEBREBEEZE_-_T - —FFHHA
the Group for the year ended 31 May 2021 include two =+ BIFENTAERS H
directors (2020: two directors). The emoluments paid/payable MALTEERBESE(ZE_-F
to the five highest paid individuals are as follows: F -MEER) BN/ EBNES
EeFMALTHOMEWT

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—¥-—F B=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits ¥ & + E b = 8f & 1@ 3,421,140 4,120,415
Pension costs — contributions to defined & K & & A — (A 5 € 5K
contribution plans Tk 85,183 92,136
3,506,323 4,212,551
The emoluments fell within the following bands: B4 R AT & E
Number of individuals
BEAE
Year ended 31 May
BELA=t—-HLFE
2021 2020
—B-—-% ZF-TFTHF
Emolument bands B < %6 [
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,0007% 7T 4 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T 2 2,000,000 7% 7T 1 1
5 5
During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no REBEE-_E-—ER-_T-_TF
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors FA=+—HBILFEE AEEH
or other members of the five highest paid individuals as an EHIMESESRAELZSSETIA
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leaving the +hEMKES NG £A
Group or as compensation for loss of office. el EmMmAREERE - N ARE
& BERMAKEN R ISR

Biwm(E -
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10

11

(48

Finance costs, net

10 MR AR AN F R

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+T—-HLEE

2021 2020
:%:E — ﬂi — 7 — % $
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Finance income B A
Bank interest income RAT A B U A 2,022 211,088
Finance costs B 7% B AR
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE T B (254,559) (306,561)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE (286,212) (198,038)
(540,771) (504,599)
Finance costs, net 5 75 BY 72N BB (538,749) (293,511)
Income tax credit 11 IEHBER
During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no Hong Kong RZEBEZ—FRZZZF=_ZFTFHA

profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not generate any
estimated assessable profit (2020: Same).

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. Companies incorporated and
operating in Macau are subject to Macau complementary tax, under
which taxable income of up to MOP600,000 is exempted from
taxation with amounts beyond this amount to be taxed at a fixed
rate of 12% for the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. During
the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no PRC corporate income
tax and Macau complementary tax have been provided for as the
Group did not generate any estimated assessable profit (2020:
same).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Income tax credit (Continued)

The amounts of taxation credited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represent:

%= A

NN

A M ERR M oL ()

FrE8E % @)

SAARAEEEKRERNTIES R

1"

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+t—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEREE — (107,255)

Deferred income tax (Note 23) IR AE FT 1S R (BT 5E23) (4,939,903) (2,221,217)

(4,939,903) (2,328,472)

The taxation on the loss before income tax differs from the

PRERAERENRESNRNEREE

theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong MEAEMEBERSE  WINATR:
Kong as follows:
Year ended 31 May
BEEA=1+—HLFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_THF
HKS$ HK$
BT 75T
Loss before income tax P15 B Al B 18 (40,018,305)  (26,633,658)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% B R165% T & (6,603,020) (4,394,554)
Effect of different tax rates for different TRBERNTRBEEREE
countries 309,005 388,615
Income not subject to taxation B A BTN (25,961) (28,264)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AR A 197,304 1,570,082
Tax losses not recognised REDRBRIBEER 1,182,769 400,451
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses % Fl 5 Bii & #& 2 54 I8 &5 18 — (157,547)
Over-provision in prior years BT EBBEEE — (107,255)
Taxation credit RIEE % (4,939,903) (2,328,472)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (B

12 Loss per share 12 BRER
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to RBEE-_E-_—F K _ZE_FTFEAHA
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of = +—BIEE EREANBEEJIE
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 May 2021 and RATIREEAE AELEERR D
2020. TERRMETOHEE -

Year ended 31 May
BEEZHIA=1tT-HLHEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFEZFE
Loss attributable to owners of AARHEE AEGER
the Company (in HK$) (LB TEh) (35,011,096) (24,257,194)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &2 %17 % i % h 1 T 19 &
in issue 800,000,000 800,000,000
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREKRERE (GBI (4.38) (3.03)
As there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding HREBE-_E -G/ T -_FTFH
during the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, diluted loss per B=+—HIEETEZETHRITE
share is the same as basic loss per share. ME#ESZrTEKR e B E55%

EERGRERERER -

13 Non-controlling interests 13 FERER
The total comprehensive loss for the year ended 31 May 2021 R ESEEHE S - —F 1 A
attributable to non-controlling interests amounted to HK$63,078 = t+—BHLEFEENEEERAEEA
(2020: HK$51,601) which are attributable to two individual 63,0787 ;o ( — & — & 4 : 51,6018
shareholders of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited 7o) BB IFEY T 42 KB EHE
(“SSTTL"). SSTTL mainly incurred operating expenses of BEEREAG(FEIERLRERTED)BMR
approximately HK$1,001,407 (2020: HK$1,451,240) for the year ZEABRR REE=-ZT=-_—FHA
ended 31 May 2021, and it did not contribute significant revenue, = +—BIFEE  FEIYtL RERFK
total assets and total liabilities to the Group. TEEAKLE R X 41,001,4077% 7T

— T T F 1,451,240 0) 0 B
EHAEBKZE REENBAGIE
HEKRKER -
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14 Property, plant and equipment

/\\/

14 ¥ -BERFZE

Furniture and

Notes to the Consolidated Fmanoal Statements (Contin

u
B B 75 ¥R &R BT 5 (4

e
=1

d)
g)

Visual display other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
FER
REERERRE Htp® RE HEHEE # 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT ST BT BT
At cost: BAA
At 1 June 2019 RZE—NFAA—H 163,531,616 1,332,988 2,219,462 1,538,668 168,622,734
Additions NE 28,062,577 62,079 — — 28,124,656
Exchange difference N =R (158,483) (1,397) — (2,200) (162,080)
At 31 May 2020 RZZT-FF
FA=+—H 191,435,710 1,393,670 2,219,462 1,536,468 196,585,310
At 1 June 2020 RZZE=_TE-A—H 191,435,710 1,393,670 2,219,462 1,536,468 196,585,310
Additions NE 8,956,006 81,616 — 106,626 9,144,248
Disposals & — — (972,215) — (972,215)
Exchange difference fE N Z8 534,797 3,144 — 4,950 542,891
At 31 May 2021 RZZEZ—F
FA=+—H 200,926,513 1,478,430 1,247,247 1,648,044 205,300,234
Accumulated Rt e
depreciation:
At 1 June 2019, i NERA—H 87,952,474 1,133,497 1,336,059 1,243,418 91,665,448
Charge for the year FRZ 19,559,736 89,188 252,843 100,980 20,002,747
Exchange difference fEH =R (51,879) 911) — (2,200) (54,990)
At 31 May 2020 RZZ-FF
TA=+—H 107,460,331 1,221,774 1,588,902 1,342,198 111,613,205
At 1 June 2020 RZZE-ZTE-A—H 107,460,331 1,221,774 1,588,902 1734251 SSHNNIFGIBr205
Charge for the year FRAZ M 19,199,859 100,341 107,011 133,560 19,540,771
Disposals (Note) & (FfaE) — — (599,532) = (599,532)
Exchange difference N =% 175,934 2,705 — 4,950 183,589
At 31 May 2021 RZZE_—%1A
=Sq=[8 126,836,124 1,324,820 1,096,381 1,480,708 130,738,033
Net book value: R FEE
At 31 May 2021 RZB=Z—%
EA=+—H 74,090,389 153,610 150,866 167,336 74,562,201
At 31 May 2020 RZZ-FF
FA=+—H 83,975,379 171,896 630,560 194,270 84,972,105
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I HRERNEE(8)

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y% BERZE@®
Depreciation expenses were charged to cost of services and WMERNSSHARBRARITHE SN
administrative expenses as follows: T

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+—HLEE

2021 2020

—E-—F —EFHF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cost of services AR 75 Ak Zx 19,199,859 19,559,736
Administrative expenses THRAX 340,912 443,011
Depreciation charge for the year FRITEEH 19,540,771 20,002,747
Note: Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 M - HE_E=-—4FRA=+—BILEE H
May 2021 were HK$530,001 (2020: Nil). Gain on disposal amounting to ey ¥ . R R & FT 18 % 18 /A530,001
HK$157,318 (2020: Nil) have been credited to other gains/(losses), net. BT(ZE_ZF: &) HESH

157,318 L (Z T = F : M) Bt AEAM
Wik, (B18) F458 -

15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 15 FRAEEERBESR

(@) The Group’s leasing activities and how these (@ AEBE2HEZTEBERAEA
are accounted for BREEWNHE
The Group leases various offices, warehouses and office AEBHESRERAZE BAER
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed WA -HESDETHR —
periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an BREBIFERIF -HEGRIZE
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms BEEGRE BOEZENREK
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any ZREGE - BHBEARFEHESR
covenants other than the rental deposits in the leased assets ENHERSI BEHSLE
that are held by the lessors. Leased assets were not be used WINE MR - AEEETER
as security for borrowing purposes. VE{E 2R3 38 o

148 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contmue )

ire Mg maR M EE (8

15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 15 FAEEERBEEEE @)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated b) REEHBERARAER
statement of financial position £ %8
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the EAMBMRRAKRY REBHEE
following amounts relating to leases: SEWR

31 May 2021 31 May 2020

—EBE-—F —E-TH
HFA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Right-of-use assets (Note) ERAEEE (M)
Premises L/ 5,092,459 3,434,898
Office equipment /N 2,720 19,040
5,095,179 3,453,938

Lease liabilities HEEE

Non-current FE E 3,063,539 1,332,232
Current & 2,343,377 2,276,959
5,406,916 3,609,191
Note: During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group entered into new leases e BE=_F=_—FAA=+—HLF
on premises and recognised right-of-use assets of approximately B -AEEERWETUHBAEL
HK$4,986,013 (2020: HK$2,019,808). TR {E F 1 & &4,986,0138 T (=

T T4 22,019,808 L) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I HRERNEE(8)

15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued) 15 FAEEEREEEE @

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated () REZEE2HWERAER
statement of comprehensive income & 5
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows SEAETEUWBERISBEBREE
the following amounts relating to leases: SEWR
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TH
HK$ HK$
BT T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEERE
Premises S 3,374,697 2,965,890
Office equipment WRNRE 16,320 16,320
3,391,017 2,982,210
Interest on leases liabilities (Note 10) HEBGEZF 2 (H:E10) 286,212 198,038

Rental expenses of short-term leases in 7 B30 Fl ) 3 K 5% 2 /2 HR A
respect of rental premises and EvHeALZ (HES)
equipment (Note 8) 4,719,557 2,159,715
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15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 15 FAEEERBEEEE @)

(d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated d REEHRERERAER
statement of cash flows £ %8

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the total cash outflows RBEE_ZE-_—FHAA=+—8H

for leases were analysed as follows: HTFE HEZRESRHERE D
M -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E_FTF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash flows from operating activities K& EB SRS R E ()

(Note)
Payments for short-term leases in respect BRI Y ¥ k& FH 2 R A
of rental premises and equipment E 7R 4,719,557 2,159,715

Cash flows from financing activities FEEFEFESHERE

Payments of interest element of lease BEAEAENEHD
liabilities 286,212 198,038
Payments of principal element of lease BEEHEAGBEERSHY
liabilities 3,235,921 2,832,941
3,522,133 3,030,979
Note: Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but included Misr: S ERN KXW EBE B R - M
in the line of “operating loss” in respect of the net cash (used in)/ MEIRABERERALEEE (T
generated from operating activities using the indirect method. B)/FiEREFENKCERE]
HE A e
(e) Extension and termination options (e) ERRARILBERE
There are no extension and termination options included in HEANITERSTEE KK &
the lease contracts. PR o
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16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 EFRHEHMEBEBWRIE B
and deposits MERES
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R=ZB=Z—F R-_ZT_ZTF
EFA=+—-HB ®RA=+—H
HK$ HK$
T BT
Trade receivables B85 F’é Y K 1R 13,156,541 15,471,911
Less: Provision for impairment of trade W BSE 145( IR R 1B
receivables (8,450,229) (2,821,350)
Trade receivables, net (Note a) B 5 EI R EF A (M sTa) 4,706,312 12,650,561
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BEREEMNRIE 6,316,794 10,159,809
Deposits for equipment rental RELEES 6,498,861 8,631,337
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits £ fth FE W FX1E ~ FE 1 FRIB &
(Note b) e (Mfatb) 2,700,767 2,652,638
20,222,734 34,094,345
Less: Non-current portion B IERENE D
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BEREBEMARE (6,316,794) (10,159,809)
Prepayments and rental deposits BEANREAEERS (296,584) (236,851)
(6,613,378) (10,396,660)
Current portion WENE D 13,609,356 23,697,685
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year end date is the BAEJ%; EEHHNEAEERE S
carrying amount of each class of receivables and deposits MBREREWNFERIESHREEE &~
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as £ B W £ A (A R e I o
security.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate BoREMEKRZENEDEAE AN
their fair value. F(ERE
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16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 EFRHEMEBWKIE BN
and deposits (Continued) NEREZEE @
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables, NEFZ S REMEWKZIE - BN
prepayments and deposits were denominated in the following TENRIRSEEEN T EEtE :
currencies:
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R=ZB=Z—F RZIZE_ZFE
EA=+—B EHA=+—H
HK$ HK$
i P BT
HK$ BT 5,276,567 13,300,457
us$ XL 12,400,481 16,726,733
RMB AR 2,455,740 4,053,418
MOP Ak 89,946 13,737
20,222,734 34,094,345
(@) Trade receivables () EZEWFE
The Group's trade receivables are generally settled by cash on AREENEFERTE —BRER
delivery or credit period of 90 days after provision of services. 50 ot 12 (1 AR 7% 12 90 X #9 1= FE HA
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group’s ageing analysis of ANUB4EE RN T -—FF
the gross trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: —E-FEEFA=+—H K&
BENZEZEHHANEE S EYGK
HEREDTWT -
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-BE--—F RKR-_ZF_F
EFA=+—R &AA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0&30K 996,167 48,440
31-60 days 31260K 755,000 2[B565
61-90 days 61 290K 1,279,253 122,405
Over 90 days B0 K 10,126,121 15,279,501
13,156,541 15,471,911
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, trade receivables of ﬁf\_g:—ﬁ)} TE-_TEFHA
HK$10,126,121 and HK$15,279,501 were past due =+—H" % 5/A10,126,121%
respectively, and impairment of trade receivables of 7T % 15,279,501 7% T H B 5 FE UL
HK$8,450,229 (2020: HK$2,821,350) have been provided FTECRE WO EIEE 5 EWK
for. See Note 3.1(c) for information of trade receivables and KB L 1B B 158,450,229 78 77:(:
the Group’s exposure to credit risk. T - F 4 :2821350% I0) °

Ry e IE&ZIK%@PEJ—L
B HE BR300 -
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16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 EFRHEHMEBEBWRIE B
and deposits (Continued) RERES @
(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) E 5 FEWFRIEE)
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade B EWHERERENZE N
receivables is as follows: T
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZBZ—F RZZT-ZTHF
EA=+—-HB HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
At beginning of the year F 4] 2,821,350 —
Provision for impairment for the year FNRE B 5,628,879 2,821,350
At end of the year FR 8,450,229 2,821,350
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits (b) HfEKRFRIE - AT RE

(b)

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly represent
rental and utility deposits and prepayments for insurance and
maintenance.

During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group
settled balances amounting to HK$2,286,106 and
HK$4,858,952, respectively, for acquisition of certain visual
display equipment with deposits for equipment rental of the
same amount.

17 Cash and bank balances

(a)

154

Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 May 2021, no bank deposits were pledged to
financial institutions based in Hong Kong to secure the
banking facilities (2020: HK$3,000,001) (Note 24). The
weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s
pledged bank deposits was 0.001% for the year ended 31
May 2020.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits were denominated in
HK$.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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17 Cash and bank balances (Continued) 17 BERBITESH @
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) BERBESEEY
As at As at

31 May 2021 31 May 2020
RZZEZ—F RZZEZFE
EFA=+—H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$

& T BT

Cash on hand FHERS 84 78

Cash at banks R1THE % 1,166,599 4,547,553

1,166,683 4,547,631

Maximum exposure to credit risk FAEE R R 1,166,599 4,547,553

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following HERBELZEEYWHIRIATEE
currencies: SIHE

As at As at

31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R=-Z2=—-% R-FT_F
EA=+—-HB HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$
BT T
HK$ BT 1,015,380 4,052,360
RMB AR 140,189 461,584
Others E A 11,114 33,687
1,166,683 4,547,631
Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily RITHRESREETHRTERN
bank deposit rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents ERIZEANERIAE o AE
denominated in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong NARBHENRRAESSE
Kong and the PRC. The conversion of the RMB denominated BYIHFERRNERERPERT
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds Ao AR EHE R 48R KRN
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of DA Ko A B 38 9N SR 28 38 <7 AR EE A
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of RHEFME AT H & 8 INEE §l 2
the People’s Republic of China. A RER -
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18 Share capital and share premium 18 REARKRHB &RE
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
EBEREE EREREE
HK$
BT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each asat31 May R=—ZE=—FEFHA/=+—H -
2020, 1 June 2020 and 31 May 2021 —E-FTFXA—HBHE=-ZE
——fhA=+—HB8KHE
B0.018 Lz LMl 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
ZEREE ZEREE IR 13 % B
HK$ HK$
& TT BT
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR :
At 31 May 2020 and 31 May 2021 A—E-_FEFRA
=t+—ARZ=ZT=—
FRA=+—8H 800,000,000 8,000,000 56,496,624
Note: The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which became BfeE : AREAEE — R R8I ([Zat 8]
effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the #_g TERATNBERERR - & E
Group's directors and employees, etc. During the year ended 31 May 2021, no NEERSHEEBREAGSEESZRESR
options were granted (2020: same). E-HE_T-_—FRA=+—HBLILHF
B ARARWEREEMBERE(ZZZ
ZF R -
19 Reserves 19 f#%E
(@) The Company was incorporated on 4 November 2016 and @ ARARZZE—ARF+—HOEA
the group reorganisation in connection with the Listing was AR AL ZESEEM
completed on 24 November 2016. The capital reserve as at RZBE-—AF+—AZ+HEAR
31 May 2021 and 2020 primarily represented the aggregate R-RZBZ—FR-_F_FF
amount of share capital of the companies now comprising AA=+—BWEAAREERNE
the Group after elimination of the inter-company investment AEERKET AR RABE
costs. (FEH BN RIBREXERRE) o
(b) The Macau Commercial Code number 377 requires that (b) BFIBEEREIVVHERE HR
companies incorporated in Macau should set aside a F'EJ ot it A 32 B9 2 B BB 5 & B BR P
minimum of 25% of their respective profit after income tax to 1S & T E & D 25% B A A E
the legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches a B EERBERASREBRFRK
level equivalent to 50% of their capital. ANEY50% K F R LE ©
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19 Reserves (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in
the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to
be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after
offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in
their respective statutory financial statements, before profit
distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are
created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to
appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory
profits after income tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to
distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year. A
company may discontinue the contribution when the
aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than
50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves
shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to
expand the company’s operations, or to increase the capital
of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-
tax profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of
directors.

20 Other payables and accrued liabilities

%= A

NN

A M RR M o (48

19 f#E

(b)

(#8)

REERRERRE  ERBEGE

MHRABARE TETREIR
B 2 SEEARRT RRE

FHBEADEMNERE B AT T
W& 2|MARATEREMNBEGE
HBEFERABE®R) AR -
FBEELZERBODRABERNR
oHBERARIAENKBRIFE
BN EA - BERATEHREEE
MBS DR 10% 8 A K TE & 8

cEETERBBENEERR
HFM&EARS0% - Bl AE A= 1E
FAANBE AT RMREREN A
RAELRERE BARAER
FIBIMABIER Lo R AlA
REBEEEFGAEREAEBET
HREERRHEEHEE L IAE
4

Htb BN RERESFER

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020

R=ZZB=Z—f RZIT_T
FA=+—H HEA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Payables for equipment purchases IREB R G FE 318 5,129,930 4,628,524
Equipment rental payable ENEZEES 2,342,992 529,492
Other accruals and payables Hu et BB RFER A 6,319,553 4,875,321
13,792,475 10,033,337
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20 Other payables and accrued liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group’s ageing analysis of the
payables for equipment based on invoice date is as follows:

20

idated Financial Statements (Continued)

Hitb BN RERETRE@®

%:E:—ﬁﬁ:%:gﬁﬁﬂ
=t—B AEEERERAHNHR

.

%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁw PHTEAT

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
RZBEZ—F RZIZTZZTHF
FA=+—H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
& T BT
0-30 days 0E30K 132,600 —
Over 90 days 90K 4,997,330 4,628,524
5,129,930 4,628,524
The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accrued AEBHEMEMNRBENRESEEHER
liabilities were denominated in the following currencies: HmENTYEEE :
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R=ZB=-—F RZZE-F
BA=+—H HAHA=+—H
HKS$ HK$
B BT
RMB N 5,477,603 5,152,873
HK$ BT 7,592,617 4,224,810
us$ ETT 586,005 609,405
MOP JEL Y 136,250 46,249
13,792,475 10,033,337
The carrying amounts of all short-term payables and accrued AT EEHEMNRERESARE E’]
liabilities approximated their fair value due to their short maturities. HIR &R %S - tNEEmEHEE AT ERE
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21 Bank borrowings 21 BITER
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, bank borrowings were repayable as R —FR_Z_ZFHA
follows: =+—B AEENRITEROT

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZEZ—F RZEZZTHF
EA=+—-H HA=+—8H

HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank borrowings, secured: RITER - BHEMA :
Balances repayable within one year classified as B — % AN {EE - D18 AR
current liabilities BEMNE 2,561,507 2,457,914
Balances repayable after one year, with clause 78 A — Efé 1§ ;& ERENR
of repayable on demand classified as current &8 1| %EZ%/ALEJJ =R
liabilities B 45 6,946,920 1,134,574
9,508,427 3,592,488
The above bank borrowings bear interests ranging from 2.75% to POESRTEINE 2 = 5
3.75% per annum for the year ended 31 May 2021 (2020: 5.5% to =+ —BLEFEEZFMNENF2.75%
5.9%). F3.75%(ZFZFF : 55%%59%) °
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the fair value of current bank RNR—_ZE - —FN_ZT_ZF5H A
borrowings approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of = -I—— H BRBEEZERA 25
discounting is not significant. WITEIBA $f§§ﬁiﬁﬂ§@1§$ﬁ% °
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group’s bank borrowings based RZEBEZ—FR_ZEE_ZFHA
on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan =+—B AEERITERERNAT
agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand HA PR 1% (B EERBEMEDE
clause were repayable as follows: HHEE ZEEMEZEERERERD
T :
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZZBEZ—F RZZEZEHF
EFA=+—8B HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Within 1 year 1FE R 2,561,507 2,457,914
Between 1 and 2 years lz=a4s 3,066,101 1,134,574
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 3,575,109 —
Over 5 years BB F 305,710 —
9,508,427 3,592,488
The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$ (2020: HK$). RITERARNBL(ZFT_FF B
TL)EHE °

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=—&&3% 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s maR M EE (8

21 Bank borrowings (Continued) 21 B|ITER @
The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 May 2021 were secured by AEBR -_ZE-_—FHRA=+—H
guarantees under the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMC MIRTTERBEERERRERA
Insurance Limited (“HKMCI"), corporate guarantee and director’s A EELRBRRE ) $E TF Mo B
personal guarantee. The Group's borrowings as at 31 May 2020 BERAZNREHAOER A0 ERE
were secured by a guarantee relating to the working capital loans % $1| ABEREEBR AXEFR_Z
by the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative EERA=Z+T—HNEREHEE f|=q~
Region, corporate guarantee and director’s personal guarantee (Note EIJ THERNGEELESETIEHY
24) and a bank deposit of HK$3,000,001. (Note 17) ERQRIEREEEM@AER

5¥24) K R 97 17 713,000,001 7% 7T 1E 1K
o (FIsE17)

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its B2 kK -_ZE-_ZFHA
borrowing facilities during the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. = +—BUIEE AEFDETHE
RRE MR
22 Balance with related party 22 EEEEEE S WA ER
Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding outstanding
during the during the
year ended year ended As at As at
31 May 31 May 31 May 31 May
2021 2020 2021 2020
BE-E-_-F BE_FT_FTF
EA=+—-HIi £ﬂ_+ B ik
FENES FENKRR R-B-—-F R-T_ZTF
REESHE AEREE®E HA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT

Amount due from the & Uz B #2122 f%
immediate holding YNSIE/ Q|
company 50,000 — 50,000 —
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23 Deferred taxation 23 EZERIE
The deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 17 E K X 1] o0& H B 1T B #E A 48 Al
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against HAfIEE EHEE B e EEEE
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to AREEIRERESR Y &R — B B
the same fiscal authority. The net amounts are as follows: Eﬁ Ej~ IE it Pfr MEENRABE TR

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
RZZE-Z—F RZZEZZTF
EFA=+—-8B HA=+—H

HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMGHAR
— to be settled after more than twelve months — @+ - A &= — (3,514,821)
— to be settled within twelve months —RITZEAAGEE (427,601) (1,852,683)
(427,601) (5,367,504)
The movement on net deferred income tax (liabilities)/asset is as ELEFRESH(BEE)  BEFENEH
follows: m
Year ended 31 May
BZEZEA=1+—HILLEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of the year F4 (5,367,504) (7,588,721)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) SFABEZE (M) 4,939,903 2,221,217
At end of the year FR (427,601) (5,367,504)
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23 Deferred taxation (Continued)

23 EERE @

162

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as
follows:

EHR — B RAE R N RATERT
PIEHEERBENESHOT :

Deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) EEFEHAE (BE)
Provision for
Accelerated tax ~ impairment of trade Right-of-use assets
depreciation receivables Tax losses and lease liabilities Total
NEHERE  ERBERFERERE BEEE EREEENEEEE wst

2021 2020 2021 2020

“%--% ZT-TF ZB--F —T-TF %=

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—F ZTZFF “E--F ZT-TF Z“Z--F ZT=-TF

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B BT B B B BT B BT
At 1 June RAA—AR 8,258,492 7,588,721 (375,796) — (2,492,171) —  (23,021) — 5,367,504 7,588,721

(Credited)/charged to (3t AfE25)/
profit or loss BEZME

(1,179,366) 669,771 (615,043) (375,796) (3,100,560) (2,492,171)

(44,934)  (23,021) (4,939,903) (2,221,217)

At 31 May REA=+—-A

7,079,126 8,258,492 (990,839) (375,796) (5,592,731) (2,492,171)

(67,955)  (23,021) 427,601 5,367,504

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried-
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 May 2021,
the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$2,230,866 (2020: HK$1,048,097) in respect of
accumulated tax losses of the PRC and Macau subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$8,538,318 (2020: HK$4,602,673)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income. The tax
losses of these PRC subsidiaries will expire within 5 years, while the
tax losses of the Macau subsidiary do not have an expiry date.
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24 Banking facilities 24 RITELE
As at 31 May 2021, the Group had total banking facilities of RZEZ—FAA=+—H X&
HK$10,000,000 (2020: HK$4,392,488), of which HK$9,508,427 B /SR 1T Rh & 42 58 410,000,000
(2020: HK$3,592,488) were utilised. The Group’s banking facilities (= & = & £ : 4,392,488/ JT ) °
were secured by the following: H 95084278 (=T = T F:

3,592,488 L) BB A - ASBERIRTT
& LA TR 51 B T8 VR A

(i) as at 31 May 2021, the issue of guarantees under the SME ) RZZE=_—FHA=+—H' &
Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMCI which is wholly BRBREBE(BESEMNTERR
owned by the government of Hong Kong Special BRE2EHER)BEF /N ERE
Administrative Region to the extent of HK$9,600,000; P& (R 5T 813 & % 9,600,000 7% 7T

B IR

(i) as at 31 May 2021 and 2020, corporate guarantee by the (i) RZEZ—FR-_ZT_FTFHA
Company and the personal guarantee by a director of the =+—H ' ARQRRENDFE
Company; REARF] —ZEZRENEA

R

(i) as at 31 May 2020, the issue of a guarantee relating to the iy RZZEZZEFRA=+—H &
working capital loans by the government of the Hong Kong BENTHEREMESEELESE
Special Administrative Region to the extent of HK$2,500,000; X B & % 2,500,000 T B HE
and ®: &

(iv)  Pledged bank deposits of HK$3,000,001 as at 31 May 2020. (ivv R=ZE=ZFHRA=F+—"H' B

5 48 68 77 17 7% 3,000,001 75 T °
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25 Subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group as at 31 May 2021

(%)

and 2020 are as follows:

(Continued)

25 B AT

AEER-_F-_—FR_FT_FTFA
A=+ —BREHNHNEBARMNFIEN

I
Particulars of
Place and date of  issued and paid up Percentage of equity held
Name incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
SRt R BRTR REA=+—H
8 =R:t BRRAFE FEEAED T TEEY
2021 2020
—E--F ZZC-TF
Directly held
EERH
In Technical Productions  The BV, Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
(B.V.I.) Limited 9 November 2016
("ITP (BVI)")
In Technical Productions  HBREZEHE 100% 7T REBREZER
(B.V.1.) Limited ZE-RF
(TP (BVI))) +—ANE
Indirectly held
BERE
TP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
10 March 2009 services for concerts and events
in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC
and Taiwan
TP (HK) A% —TTNF 10,000 75 RER B PERGER
=R+H BEREREDHREGERET
R R RS
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural The PRC, RMB3,500,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
Communication 4 July 2012 services for concerts and events
(Shenzhen) Limited* in the PRC
(e RE L E
(RIDBERAA])
g R L E 1 FE - —F——F AR3,500,0007C APEREEE REBRMER

(RINBRAF

+tAMHAH
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25 Subsidiaries (Continued) 25 i D 7 @)

Particulars of
Place and date of  issued and paid up Percentage of equity held

Name incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
aF fH B 3L 3t B TR BRTR RER=1+—-H
=x ! =R BRRAFE FRERADL TEEH
2021 2020

—Eo-% ZEZTF

Shanghai Yingtegao Stage  The PRC, RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of stage design and
ArtsLimited* ( /8545 14 October 2014 equipment installation services
SES2MBERAR) in the PRC
EERESHEEN FE T —@mE  AR1,000,0007T TERBERMHES R REER
BRAA +A+mA KR

Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng ~ The PRC, RMB500,000 70% 70% Import and export and wholesale
Technology Limited* 11 July 2013 of video equipment and parts
(RYITTH 2 RBER and related support services in
BRADA) the PRC

RNt A0 R BB HE ZE—=F A R #500,0007T FERE®D RS ARIERE
B AR +A+—H R BB A R AR S R

%

InTechPro Macau Limited ~ Macau, MOP500,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
(RERRBRM—A 27 November services for concerts and events
BERAR) 2017 in Macau

RERRM—A B —T—+F SR P9 500,000 7T ARMEEEE REBRER
BRAA] +—A=-++tH GRTERTRRE

3 The company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. & ZRARBRFEKIAIINEBEERE -

# The company is established as a limited liability company in the PRC. & ZARRRPBEKIHEREEAR -

Note: The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best
effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as
they do not have official English names.
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26 Note to the consolidated statement of cash 26 ZKEBRERERRHF
flows
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from cash flows from financing BREEHERESnREELA ZBEY
activities: BRINR ¢
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings
HEEE RITHER
HK$ HK$
o 7T
At 1 June 2019 R=-ZE—hEXHA—H 4,497,779 6,741,606
Cash flows Ren=
— Payments of principal element of —EEHEEAE
lease liabilities &S (2,832,941) =
— Payments of interest element of —EEMEEaE
lease liabilities PSR (198,038) =
— Repayment of bank borrowings —EERITEX — (3,149,118)
— Bank loan interest paid —BEMRITERFE — (306,561)
Non-cash movements RS EH
— Acquisition of leases —WERE 2,019,808 —
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEBENE 198,038 —
— Exchange difference —ERERE (75,455) —
— Bank loan interest —RITE A B = 306,561
At 31 May 2020 N—-E-_ZEFFA=+—H 3,609,191 3,592,488
Cash flows Renh=
— Payments of principal element of —HEgBEAESITH TR
lease liabilities (3,235,921) —
— Payments of interest element of —HEBEMEIH K
lease liabilities (286,212) —
— Proceeds of bank borrowings —IRITERPT B IR — 9,508,427
— Repayment of bank borrowings —EERITER = (3,592,488)
— Bank loan interest paid —BE[RITERAE = (254,559)
Non-cash movements R EH
— Acquisition of leases —WIEEE 4,986,013 i
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEARMNE 286,212 a
— Exchange difference —EHERE 47,633 —
— Bank loan interest —RITERHE = 254,559
At 31 May 2021 N-—EBE-_—FHA=+—H 5,406,916 9,508,427
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27 Commitments 27 AT
Capital commitments B AREE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at 31 NR—_EBE - —FRKR _ZE_ZFEFAH A
May 2021 and 2020 were as follows: == EI EEAE EREENE AR
X
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
ﬁﬁ_+ = £H_+ =|
HK$ HK$
BT T
Property, plant and equipment WME - R NLE 1,450,717 2,109,896
28 Related party transactions 28 BEHARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, WM— e EEHE— 5
directly or indirectly, to control the other party, has joint control HEEH R - E R — 5B ER
over the party or exercises significant influence over the other party MohaE i MEASE . Al FBE AR
in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also Rt (WE ST HRBIEZS  THAEAR
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Eafic
The ultimate controlling individual of the companies now e - &K/ _-_T-_TFFHA
comprising the Group is Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis for the years =+t HIEE ANEBBHEETA
ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. RIRBILEI A B EE LA -
(a) Balance with a related party (a) B2 — BBAEE S BVAS B8R
As at 31 May
REA=+-—H
2021 2020
—EZ—F —E_EF
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Amount due from the immediate FE U B B2 IR A Bl 518
holding company 50,000 =
The balance is non-trade related, unsecured, interest free and FHAERRIIESHE BEE
repayable on demand. B RERBARERER-

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=—&&% 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire s maR M EE (8

28 Related party transactions (Continued) 28 BEA RS @)
(b) Key management compensation (b) EEBEAEHMNH
Key management includes directors and other key TEEEBEABBEAEENES
management of the Group. The compensation paid or FHMTEZEEBEAE HEER
payable to key management for employee services is shown BMENSKENEEEIREABH
B BB R ¢

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits  #H & -« E {1 £ 85 & & F) 4,059,608 4,625,374
Pension costs — contributions to defined E{k & B — AR EH 7Kt 2
contribution plans 3 176,213 183,143
4,235,821 4,808,517
29 Financial instruments by categories 29 BEETHNERMITA

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REBEREAZEMEE
2021 2020
s
HK$ HKS$
BT T
Assets as per consolidated statementof 4SGABBRRERFAINEE
financial position
Trade receivables B o5 EW A 4,706,312 12,650,561
Deposits and other receivables i) &Eﬁﬁﬁgﬂﬁlm 8,099,156 10,752,063
Amount due from the immediate holding B E A% A B R IE
company 50,000 —
Cash and bank balances WE NIBTES 1,166,683 7,547,632
Total #Et 14,022,151 30,950,256
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29 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 29 RERIZ SN ER T E @)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RBERETAZEMEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of % & M IR R K5 & &
financial position
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtENREREFAE 13,268,104 9,527,305
Lease liabilities HEARE 5,406,916 3,609,191
Bank borrowings RITHEZK 9,508,427 3,592,488
Total FE 28,183,447 16,728,984
30 Contingencies 30 AREE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2021 NR_E-_—FR_ZE_ZTFHA
and 2020. =t+—B AEBEITEEAXAEE-
31 Dividend 31 BE
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the AKANREBE_E_—FER_ZE_FTF
years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. AAZ+—HUEFETESHHEIR
Bg & o
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32 Statement of financial position of the 32 XA A B BMRRK
Company

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZB-Z—F R-_ZT_-F
EA=+—H HA=+—H

Note HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT BT
ASSETS &E
Non-current asset knRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERBRARE 44,709,149 44,709,149
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables AR RIERE ’rWE H&Z 135,432 153,980
Amount due from a subsidiary FE U — P S B R Bl 3018 21,150,174 22,511,336
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁ%{g% 58,378 59,037
21,343,984 22,724,353
Total assets BEE 66,053,133 67,433,502
EQUITY Rz
Share capital & 7 18 8,000,000 8,000,000
Share premium 1815 % B 18 56,496,624 56,496,624
Reserves e 32(a) (1,153,431) 381,038
Total equity BER 63,343,193 64,877,662
LIABILITY afE
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEMENFEREFEE 2,709,940 2,555,840
Total liability weE 2,709,940 2,555,840
Total equity and liability EEREEH8E 66,053,133 67,433,502
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved $ RAMBERALTBAESTEN -
by the Board of Director on 24 August 2021 and were signed on its —FNAZTHBH#E - jﬁﬁ RFE
behalf. % o
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Tam Chun Yu
BEE BEETF
Director Director
EF EF

170 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e R RMNEE (8)

32 Statement of financial position of the

Company (Continued)

(a) Movement of reserves

32 XA EBBERRER @

() RBEEH
Capital Accumulated
reserve losses

a1 23t EE
HK$ HK$
BT T

Total
st
HK$
T

As at 1 June 2019

Loss for the year

R-ZT—HAENA—H

FEBE

32,709,141 (22,747,533)

= (9,580,570)

9,961,608

(9,580,570)

As at 31 May 2020

Loss for the year

R-E-_TEFRA=+—H

FEER

32,709,141 (32,328,103)

— (1,534,469)

381,038

(1,534,469)

As at 31 May 2021

R-E-_—AHA=+—H

32,709,141 (33,862,572)

(1,153,431)
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33 Benefits and interests of directors 33 EERARES
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEHM
The emoluments of the directors of the Company paid or NEFHE S - —FN_FT—
payable by the Group during the years ended 31 May 2021 ZERA=ZF+T—HIEFEEH
and 2020 are set out below: HEMNNARFESHFMWBE RN
™
Year ended 31 May 2021 BE-_Z-_—FHA=+—HL
FE
Salaries,
other Defined
allowances contribution
and Discretionary pension
Fee benefits bonuses costs Total
e Htt REMRK
e EEEREF HERA BELER #at
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name e BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: #HI{TEE:
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting BEELE

Dennis (Chief (TTE# %)
Executive Officer) — 1,224,240 300,000 18,000 1,542,240
Mr. Tam Chun Yu EEFRE — 512,400 — 16,950 529,350

Independent non- BIFHITESE:
executive directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing TRUR K E 144,000 — — — 144,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BR&LE 144,000 — — — 144,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis Z& B8 3¢ 22+ 144,000 — — — 144,000

432,000 1,736,640 300,000 34,950 2,503,590
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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33 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued) 33 EEFEANRERS @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EEHMN @
Year ended 31 May 2020 BE-_E-_EEFA=+—H1
FE
Salaries,
other
allowances Defined
and Discretionary contribution
Fee benefits bonuses pension costs Total
e Hfth FTEH K
e EUBREM MIETEL BELER a5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name e BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: #HITEE :
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting s R A

Dennis (Chief (7TH B #)
Executive Officer) — 1,197,407 300,000 18,000 1,515,407
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFLYE — 626,250 96,417 18,000 740,667

Independent non- BIFHITES:
executive directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing FRUOAS A 174,000 — — — 174,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun ERELE 174,000 — — — 174,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis Z& B8 3¢ 22 + 174,000 — — — 174,000
522,000 1,823,657 396,417 36,000 2,778,074
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) ESENKER
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement FABEEE FUE R R T
benefits during the year (2020: Nil). BRBHN(ZE_ZF  FE) -
(c) Directors’ termination benefits () ESRLEERN
None of the directors received or will receive any termination F A BEEE F U SR B AT
benefits during the year (2020: Nil). BIEEMN(ZE_ZFF &) -
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33 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Directors’ waived emoluments

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services (2020:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the year (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR ()

34 Events occurring after the reporting period 34 [{HEHHAREE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following events took place subsequent to 31 May
2021:

With the launch of the vaccination programmes and the substantial
decrease in the number of COVID-19 infected cases in 2021
compared to those in 2020 due to the good results of the control
measures imposed by the respective governments of the PRC, Hong
Kong and Macau where the Group primarily operates, there were
signs that the COVID-19 situation has been easing in the regions.
The economic activities resumed gradually and pop concerts and
live events were permitted to be held.

However, uncertainties exist due to the number of infected cases
caused by the COVID-19 variants such as Alpha and Delta have
been increasing all over the world because they are highly
contagious. The governments of the regions where the Group
operates may tighten the control measures again which can
seriously affect the Group’s business.

The directors of the Company have been closely monitoring the
development of the latest situation and have continuous discussion
with the customers about their plans to resume the pop concerts
and live events. In addition, the Group raised new banking facility in
July 2021 to alleviate the liquidity pressure and has taken plans and
implemented measures to enhance the Group’s cash flows by
accelerating the collection of trade receivables and reducing the
operating costs.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

BREEAHBRREBHDFRE
EN R _BE-_—FRA=+—HB#%
BAETUATEE:

BEERBEREFEHLD  UEBERA
CEETELERAMTR FB LR
P9t BT B 5 9 1 ) HE BE ERS R 4T
R —F = —F HCOVID- 19X L A
PBIFER T _ZTFKRIERD  BR
ZE MR ACOVID- 19X B A AT &
Mo @BEFHEZTIRIE MRITE
LSRR E MRS EBEAERTT

AR THEREBRMDAGFTE - LA
M COVID-19 % i 5 & (47 Alpha K& Delta)
AEEmEBRAt FHERBREENR
MRELARAEE ERIRS T &
Fto AN B A& FTIE & /9 BT 7 Bk
THRABBEESER LB SEE
HNEREEMER -

ARBAEZ-—EEVBEIZRHMBERD
R URHEEXPHWEERER
TEREEEREGEHHF S - it
S AEBR-_B-_—FLAEEH
RITHENERRDESEN X
REGE R ERER BB INREE
BIRUKANBELER AR E
AEENRERE -
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Financial Summary

MBERE

Result B4

For the year ended 31 May
BEAA=1t—HLFE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ZE2—+tF ZE-N\F ZT-hEF ZTTF ZT-Z—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Revenue U z& 66,820 83,607 94,273 44,715 12,349
Cost of services Bk 75 A A< (32,908) (41,463) (48,135) (42,001) (34,850)
Gross profit/(loss) EH,(£18) 33,912 42,144 46,138 2,714 (22,501)
Profit/(loss) for the year £ &% 7|,/ (E518) (663) 17,928 22,536 (24,305) (35,078)
Assets and Liabilities EERERE
As at 31 May
MRERA=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ZE2—+tF ZE-N\F ZT-—nEF ZTZTF ZEBE=-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Non-current assets FERBEE 64,941 82,002 90,475 98,823 86,271
Current assets mENE E 37,843 67,598 69,977 31,245 14,826
Non-current liabilities R &) & 1& 29,010 8,339 7,589 6,699 3,851
Current liabilities mEEaE 49,161 34,115 23,200 18,068 26,913
Net current (liabilities) m® (&) EBE
assets HEE (11,318) 33,483 46,777 13,177 (12,087)
Net assets BEEFE 24,613 107,146 129,663 105,301 70,333

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated i EVT A EXRKCEZ G ST EHREZ
financial statements. — 25 o
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